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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MARY OFISI , et al.,
Plaintiff s,
V. Civil Action No. 15-201QJDB)

BNP PARIBAS, S.A, et al.,
Defendans.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiffs in this case are victimend familymembers of victim®f the 1998 terrorist
bombingsof the U.S. embassies in Kengad Tanzania, which kille@24 people and injured
thousands more. The attacks weeepetratedy al Qaeda, with the assistance of the Republic of
Sudan, which provided al Qaeddgth safe harboras well adinancial, military, and intelligence

assistancéhroughout the 1990sSeegenerallyOwens v. Republic of Sudan, 826 F. Supp. 2d 128

(D.D.C. 2011) (detailing findings of fact and conclusions of law as to Iran’s and Suidéility!
for the bombings). Plaintiffs have already sought@tdinedudgment against Sudan fies role

in theterroristbombings, inprotracteditigation that began in 2001SeeOwens v. Republic of

Sudan, 174 F. Supp. 3d 242, 250-53 (D.D.C. 2016) (discussing the history dffglétrgation
against Sudan)Earlier this year, the D.C. Circuit affirmed these judgments against Sudarst

respects, but vacated all punitive damages awasgeOwens v. Republic of Sudan, 864 F.3d

751, 769 (D.C. Cir. 2017). Plaintiffs now bring suit against defendant banks BNP Paribas, S.A.
(BNPP) and Al Shamal Islamic Banknder the civil liability provision of the Anflerrorism Act
(ATA), 18 U.S.C. § 2333he Alien Tort Statute (ATSE8 U.S.C.§1350,and various common

law torts, for allegedly conspiring with Sudan, Sudanese banksalaQa@edato dekat U.S.
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sanctions against Sudan. BNPP has moved to distthisfsplaintiffs’ claims. SeeDef.’s Mot. to
Dismiss [ECF Nol13] at 1! For thereasonsiescribed below, BNPPimotion will be granted
and the complaint will be dismissed.

.  BACKGROUND

The following facts ar@rawnfrom plaintiffs’ complaint. Plaintiffs areU.S. citizens or
foreign national employees contractorf the U.S. government who were killed or injured in
the 1998 embassy bombings, orithenmediate family members Compl. [ECF No. 1] § 31.
Plaintiffs were awarded judgments against Sudan for its role in the bombpgasrilitigation in
this Court Id. 11 32 85. The defendants arsvo banks,BNPP and Al Shamal BNPP is a
multinational bank, incorporated under the laws of France, and headquartered in Raxes |étra
1 18. During the time period relevant to the complaint, BNPP operated affilméach offices
and subsidiaries in the U.&d. Al Shamal is a Sudanese bank established®90, fundedn part
througha $50 million capital contriltion from Osama Bin Ladend. 154 Al Shamalallegedly
maintained bank accounts far Qaedaand provided financial and material supporat®@aeda
prior to, and after, the 1998 embassy bombiridsy 69.

The complaint alleges a conspiracy among BNPP, Sudan, Sudmamésgincluding Al

Shamal), and al Qaeda defeat the economic sanctions imposed byUlfe. on Sudanin

! Plaintiffs have not filed an affidaviof service establishing thal Shamal has been served witte
complaint in this actionwhich was filed nearly two years agand they have not informed the Court of any efforts
they have taken to serve Al Shamal. Shamal hasiot appearednd has not responded to the complaiithough
the deadline for serving process within 90 days does not apply to serviagéiga tountryseeFed. R. Civ. P. 4(m),
“that does not mean tleers no time limit for service,”Quantum Color Graphic$,LC v. Fan Assh Event Photo
GmbH, 185 F. Sup. 2d 897, 906 (N.D. lll. 2002keeAshrafHassan v. Embassy of France in U&.8 F. Supp. 2d
164, 174 (D.D.C. 2012) Courts have found that the exemption from thel@@ time limit br service in a foreign
country does not apphand a case may be dismisseghen a plaintiff has made no attempt to serve a foreign
defendant.Nylok Corp. v. Fastener World Inc396 F.3d 805, 807 (7th C005) (“[T]he amount of time allowed
for foreignservice is not unlimited.. . If, for example, a plaintiff made no attempt to begin the processreigh
service within 120 days, it might be proper for a court to dismiss tha.tlgitations omitted)); USHA (India) Ltd.

v. Honeywell Infl, Inc., 421 F.3d 129, 134 (2d Ci2005) (“[Rule 4(m)s] exception does not apply if, as here, the
plaintiff did not attempt to serve the defendant in the foreign coujjtryThe Court will therefore dismiss the claims
against Al Shamal, without prejudice




November 1997. The complaint alleges that BNPP prowagedss to the U.S. financsstem

to Sudan, Sudanedmanks and their agents, wha turn provided material support to al Qaeda
which it used to carry out the terrorist attackslolJ.S. embassiedd. 1 2. According to the
complaint, the embassy bombings were carried out, in part, to defeat U.S. saagdioss Sudan.
Id. 11 12, 108.

A. SUDAN, AL QAEDA, AND THE EMBASSY BOMBINGS

In 1991, Sudan invited al Qaedan international terrorist netwoflunded and i& by
Osana bin Laden-to establish operations in Sudaid. § 126. Sudan and al Qaeda allegedly
formed a mutually beneficial relationship. For its part, Sudan provided al @&adsafe harbor,
the ability to operate with impunity, and access to the U.S. financial sySadan also provided
military and intdligence assistance to al Qaeda anairliner to transport weapons, and facilitated
travel for members of al Qaeda by providing Sudanese passports, Sudanese citizenship, and
unregulated passage over the Suanya border.ld. 1126, 134-36, 138, 140, 144, 15kee
Owens 864 F.3d at 7883 In return, al Qaeda agreed to supploet governrant in its war in
southern Sudamgainst Christians, and invested in Sudan’s economy and infrastructure, for
example, by building roads, a major highway, andairport. Id. 11 126-127, 137 seeOwens
826 F. Supp. 2d at 140.

The U.S. designate8udanas a statgponsor of terrorism in 1993, and has maintained that
designation ever sinceCompl. 131 A 1993 report by the U.S. State Department noted that
Sudan actively harboradternational terrorist groups and maintained relations with a wide range
of Islamic extremistsld. 1132. Also in 1993 Bin Laden ordered an al Qaeda operative to Nairobi
Kenyato survey U.S. targets, including the U.S. embagdyy 133. The Sudanese intelligence

service facilitated the transport of al Qaeda operatives and funds from Sudamrtoist tell



operating in Nairobi.ld. 1 134. Al Qaeda was present in Sudan in 1997 and 1998 leading up to
the embasspombings and,aording to the complaint, the support that al Qaeda received from
Sudarand the accesdudarprovided to its banking system was integoadl Qaedés planto carry

out theattacks Id. § 152. On August 7, 1998l QaedattackedheU.S. anbassiesn Kenya and
Tanzaniakilling 224 people and injuring thousands moie. § 118.

B. U.S.SANCTIONS AGAINST SUDAN AND BNPP

Prior to the terrorist bombings of the U.S. embassies, but as a reSuttari’s designation
as a statesponsor of terrorism, th&).S. imposed various sanctions against the Sudanese
government in the early 1990s. In 198% U.S. government imposedcomplete trade embargo
on Sudan due to Sudan’s continued support for terrorism, which made it unlawful to export goods
and services, inading financial services, to Sudan without a license fromUl& Treasury
Department’s Ofte of Foreign Assets Control (OFACId. 115, 103, 105. As a result of these
sanctions,virtually all trade and investment activities involving the U.S. financial system,
including the processing of U.S. dollar transactions through the U.S., were pobhibite Sudan
its agenciesor instrumentalitiesid. T 105.

The complaint alleges that BNPP did not comply with the U.S. sanctions regimstagai
Sudan andhat, had it done so, al Qaeda would not have been able to receive the assistance from
Sudan necessary to carry out #898 embassy bombings. In July 2014, BNPP pled gunity
federal courto one count of conspiring to violate the Internatidéralergey Economic Powers
Act (IEEPA) and the Trading with the Enemy Act (TWIEACompl. 186; see50 U.S.C. § 1705
BNPP admitted to violating U.S. sanctions imposed on S(amamell ason Cuba and Iranby

conducting and concealing U.S. doltlenominated transactions on behalf of sanctioned entities

2 Section 1705 makes it a crime to willfully violate, attempt to violate, cvagp violate, or cause a violation
of regulations issued pursuant to IEEPA, which includes U.S. sasdgainst Sudan. 50 U.S.CL 85 (a), (c).



associated with those countrieSeeCompl.J 86 see alsBNPP PleadAgreement Statement of

Facts (SOF[ECF No0.13-2 11 14-16. BNPP stipulated in its plea agreement that this conspiracy
took place between 2002 and 2012, based on banking relationships BNPP had established with
Sudanese financial institutions as early as 1997. SOF {1 14, 17.

Shortly after the imposition dfi.S. sanctions in 1997, BNPP agreed to become the sole
correspondent bank in Europe for Sudan’s central bahlch then directed all maj@udanese
commercial banks to use BNPP as their primary correspondent bank in Europe. Ul mnoss
major Sudanese banks eventually held U.S. ddémominated accounts with BNPP. Compl.
187 SOF 1 19. This includedl Shama) which heldan account at United European Bank, a
subsidiary of BNPP. Compl. 1 26. In November 19BNPP established relationships with
unafiliated regobnal satellite banki®cated throughouAfrica, Europe, and the Middle Eadd. |
107, SOF 123. BNPP used these relationshipgacilitate U.S. dollar payments for sanctioned
Sudanese bankgssentiallyusing the regional satellite banks clearingouses to disguise
transactions with sanctioned entitiecSompl. {1 107, 194 BNPP directedts employees to omit
any references to Sudan in U.S. dollar payment messages, in odigguise the source of the
transaction from U.S. authoriéis. Id. 9 182, 188, 190.

Plaintiffs allege that BNPPB conductviolated (1) the ATA, 18 U.S.C. §2339A, 2339C
and 2332d, entitling those plaintiffs who ayeS. citizens to damages undeicson 2333 see
Compl. 1 293-318 (Counts V and VI)2) the law of nations, thus entitling those plaintiffs who
are not U.S. citizens tamages under theTS, id. 11 255-292(Counts IIl and IV);(3) common
law principles of conspiracy and aiding and abetting various idrt§ 226-254 (Counts | and
I); and (4)constituted a fraudulent conveyartbat interfered with plaintiffs’ ability to collean

the judgment they obtained against Sufitam prior litigation id. 1 32#340(Count VIII).



C. OwWENs V.BNP PaRriBAs, S.A.
Earlier this year, this Coudecided a case brought hydifferent group of plaintiffs who
arevictims of the 1998 embassy bombings against BNPP and two of its subsidiaries. vOwens

BNP Paribas S.A.235 F. Supp. 3d 85 (D.D.C. 2017plaintiffs in that case made allegations

similar to plaintiffs here, and asserted claims under the civil liability prawvisf the ATA and
various stateort laws. This Court dismissed those claims based on plaintiffs’ failure to pkead th
required elements to state a civil liability claim untter ATA. Seeid. at 98-100. The Owens

plaintiffs have appealed this Court’'s judgment to the D.C. CirctéeOwens v. BNP Paribas

S.A, No. 17-7037 (D.C. Cir. appeal docketed Feb. 28, 2017

Il LEGAL STANDARD

To survive a motion to dismiss, “a complaint must contain sufficient factual matte

accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fagghi€roft v. Igbal, 556

U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2087)).

plaintiff mustplead “factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that th
defendant is liable for the misconduct allegeld.” A complaint that “pleads facts that are merely
consistent with a defendastliability’” falls short of showing plausible entitlement to relief.

Atherton v. D.C. Office otheMayor, 567 F.3d 672, 681 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (quotigbal, 556 U.S.

at 678). The Court must take all allegations in the complaint as true, and draasalhable

inferences in the plaintiffs’ favorSeeAktieselskabet AF 2INov. 2001 v. Fame Jeans, Inc., 525

F.3d 8, 15 (D.C. Cir. 2008). However, “labels and conclusions,” “a formulaic recitation of the
elements of a cause of action,” or “naked assddjatevoid of further factual enhancement,” do
not satisfy the pleading standartfjbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citation and internal quotation marks

omitted). The Court need not accept legal conclusions or inferences drawn byt wlaich



are unsupported by facts alleged in the complaint. Food & Water Watch, Insack/i808 F.3d

905, 913 (D.C. Cir. 2015).

II. DISCUSSION

A. SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION
BNPPinitially argues that the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over plaintiff& A
and ATS claim®ecauseglaintiffs have failed to individaily allege their nationalitiedDef.’s Mot.
to Dismiss at 11.TheATS and the ATAestablish subject matter jurisdiction for certain plaintiffs

Ali v. Rumsfeld 649 F.3d 762, 775 (D.C. Cir. 201%Gill v. Arab Bank, PIC, 893 F. Supp. 2d

474, 495 (E.D.N.Y. 2012). The ATS provides that “[tlhe district courts shall have original
jurisdiction of any civil action byn alienfor a tort only, committed in violation of the law of
nations or a treaty of the United States.” 12&.C. § 1350 (emphasis added). Conversely, the

ATA provides that “[a]nynational of the United Stat@sjured in his or her person . . . may sue

therefor in any appropriate district court of the United States . . ..” 18 U.S.C. &P@38phasis
addal). The term “national of the United States” means (a) a citizen &f.®weor (b) a person
who, though not a citizen, owegrmanent allegiance to theS. 18 U.S.C. § 2332); 8 U.S.C.
§ 11QL(a)(22).

The complaint alleges th&ad plaintiff Mary Ofisi is a Kenyan national, Compl. § 29;
thus,she is an “alien” as required to bring a claim under the ATS. The complaint does ngt speci
the individual nationalities faheremaining 566 named plaintiffeather, it alleges that “[e]ach of
the other amed plaintiffs are either United States citizens or foreign national employees
contractors of the United States Government who were killed or injured in the 1998 et Af
Embassy Attacks, or their immediate family membergl”  31. The questiois whether, as

BNPP argues, this is insufficient.



BNPP’s argument must be considered in the context of Rule 8's requirement that the
complaintprovide “a short and plain statement of the grounds for the court’s jurisdiction.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 8(a)(1)In assessing whether a complaint sufficiently alleges subject matter jurisdictio
the Court accepts as true tbemplaint’'sallegationsseelgbal 556 U.S.at 678 and liberally
construes the pleadings such that the plaintiff benefits from all inferdadgsd from the facts

alleged,Barrv. Clinton, 370 F.3d.196, 1199D.C. Cir. 2004).* At the pleading stage, general

factual allegdons of injury resulting from the defendant’s conduct may sufficAttias v.

Carefirst, Inc, 865 F.3d 620, 6226 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife

504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992)).

In light of these authorities, the Court is satisfied that the complaint’s allegatiam all
of the named plaintiffs are “either U.S. citizemgareign national employees or contractors of the
United States governmentprovides a short and plain statement of the court’s jurisdiction, which
is all that is required under Rule 8. Granting plaintiffs the benefit of liberalractien, the Court
infers thathe U.S. citizen plaintiffs are assertidgims under th&TA, while the other plaintiffs
areasserting claims under tAd'S. The Court will therefore move forward and evaluate whether
plaintiffs have plausily alleged theotherelements requireth state those claims.

B. ATA CLAIMS

BNPP movego dismiss the U.S. citizen plaintiffs’ ATA claims for failure to state a claim.
SeeDef.’s Mot. to Dismiss at 2381. The ATA’s civil liability provision, 18 U.S.C. 2333(a),
provides that fa]ny national othe United States injured in his or her person . . . by reason of an
act of international terrorism, or his or her estate, survivors, or heirs, makiesdertin any
appropriate district court of the United States and shall recover threefold . . .eddmag its

face,the ATA appears to require: (1) injury to a U.S. national, (2) an act of intemahterrorism,



and (3) causation. Section 2333 does not contain an express intent element, but courts have
concluded that the statute requires some kind of deliberate misconduct by the defendaate
than mere negligencalthough'deliberate disregard of the interests of others” may be sufficient.

Boim v. Holy Land Foundfor Relief & Dev, 549 F.3d 685, 6933 (7th Cir. 2008) (en banc)

(citation and internal quotation marks omitteddee alsdGill, 893 F. Supp. 2dt 503; Wultz v.

Islamic Republic of Iran755 F. Supp. 2d 1, 42 (D.D.C. 2010); Goldberg v. UBS AG, 660 F. Supp.

2d 410, 428 (E.D.N.Y. 2009).

The intent required undeg 2333 is complicded by the meaning of “international
terrorism,” which is defined aactivitiesthat inter alig “involve violent acts or acts dangerous to
human life that are a violation of the criminal laws of the United States or dbtats, or that
would be a criminal violation if committed within the jurisdiction of the United State$ any
State.” 18 US.C. 8§ 2331(1A). Section 2333 thus incorporates a range of state and federal crimes
that may constitute “acts of international terrorism” if a plaintiff can shothithat the defendant
committed the criminal violatioandthat the crime satisfies the additional elements listed above
i.e, injury to a U.S. national and causation. In other wonahjle sectior2333 itself requires at
least reckless conduct, plaintiffs will also have to show varying levelsasitec depending on the
underlying crimin&violation alleged as constituting thequisite'act of international terrorismi.

Owens 235 F. Supp. 3d at 991;see also, e.gGill, 893 F. Supp. 2d at 50&oldberg 660 F.

Supp. 2d at 427-28.

Plaintiffs allege that BNPRviolated hree criminal provisions of the ATA 18 U.S.C.
88 2332d, 2339A, and 2339C. Section 2339A(a) makes it a crime to “provide[ ] material support
or resources [to terrorists] . . . knowing or intending that they are to be used in poegaratr

in carrying out, a vilation of’ various criminal statutes that prohibit, for example, the



extraterritorial killingof a U.S. nationa(8 2332(a))or the extraterritorial bombing of a place of

public useor a government facility§ 2332f(a)(1)) Section 2339C(a)(1) makes itame to “by

any means, directly or indirectly, unlawfully and willfully provide[ ] ofleot[ ] funds. . .with

the knowledge that such funds are to be used” to carry out an act intended to cause death or serious
bodily injury, wherée'the purpose auchact, by its nature or context, is to intimidate a population,

or to compel a government or an international organization to do or to abstain fromrdoaug. &

Finally, 82332d(a) makes is a crime for any “United States person, knowing or havingaiglaso

cause to know that a country is designated under section 6(j) of the Export Adrtions#ct of

1979 .. . as a country supporting international terrorism,” to “engage]] in a finanaraaction

with the government of that country.”

Before procedingany further, the Court will dismiggaintiffs’ claim for primary liability
based on BNPP’s alleged violation of § 2339C because that statute was enacted in 2p€&;Sour
after the relevant conduct in this case leading up to the embassy boml3egd errorist
Bombings Convention Implementation Act of 2002, PubNo. 107-197, § 202116 Stat. 721
724, Owens 235 F. Supp. 3d at 98 (dismissing civil claim against BNPP premisg@380C for
same reason); see alBoim, 549 F.3d at 691 (holdingwl liability may not be imposed under
§ 2333 because defendant did not render material support to terrorist groupnbbtsvetective
date of§ 2339A and plaintiff's injury).

The parties have raised several issues of statutory interpretation relgédntifs’
remaining claims unddéy 2339A and § 2332dThe first two issueswhether§ 2333 provides for
aiding and abetting liabilityand what standard of causation applese ones that the Court
recently resolved i©®wens 235 F. Supp. 3d &1-97 Hence, the Court will incorporate that

portion of theOwensopinion here and only briefljummarizehose issues below. The third

10



whetheBNPP is a “United States person” for purposes of § 233fds not raised i©Dwensand
will thus be addressed fully below.

1. Aiding and Abetting Liability

The parties dispute whether section 2333 of the A&Anitssecondary liability claims for
aiding and abettingSeeMot. to Dismiss at 2629 Pls.” Opp’n[ECF No. 19]at 23-25. The Court
decided this issue i@wenswhere, after surveying the relevant case law, it concludedhbat
prior version of the ATA that is applicable to plaintiffs’ claims in this case does owider for
civil aiding and abetting liability under § 233%ee235F. Supp. 3d at 9952 Plaintiffs argue
herethat the Court should follow an earlier decision by a court in this digget)ultz, 755 F.
Supp. 2dat 56-57% that recognizediiding and abetting liability under the ATA, instead of
decisions from the Second and Seventh Cireujtsing theother way. This Court already
considered and rejected this argumerm®mens 235 F. Supp. 3d at 93. Thus,the extent that
plaintiffs’ ATA claims are based on aiding and abettintheory, theywill be dismissed.

2. Proximate Causation

The parties also dispute thpplicable causation standar8ection 2333(a) requires that a
plaintiff be injured “by reason ofdn act of international terrorism. The parties agree that the “by
reason of” language requires plaintitis show that BNPP’s conduct proximately caused the
attacks but they appear to disagree abwhtt that meansSeeDef.’s Mot. to Dismiss at 13 4;

Pls.” Opp’n a8-30 This Court also resolved this issu®wens concluding that § 2333 requires

3 In 2016, Congress amend#te ATA to specifically include aiding and abetting liabilitgeeJustice
Against Sponsors of Terrorism Act (“JASTARub L. No. 114-222,8 4, 130 Stat. 852, 8542016). The amended
version of the statute does not apply to those injured before September 11 n2l0ddnee does not apply herel.

§ 7, 130 Stat. 855

4 Another court in this districBurnett v. Al Baraka Inv. & Dev. Corp274 F.Supp. 2d 86, 107 (D.D.C.
2003), recognizediding and abetting liabily under the ATA by relying on Boim v. Quranic Literacy Inst. & Holy
Land Foundfor Relief & Dev, 291F.3d 1000 (th Cir. 2002). But the Seventh Circuit sitting en banc sgylbsetly
overruled that decisionSeeBoim, 549 F.3d 685 (en banc).

5 Rothstein v. UBS AG708 F.3d 8297 (2d Cir. 2013)Boim, 549 F.3cht691.

11



a showing of proximate cause as that “term is typically defined.” 2Zupp. 3d at 97 (citing
Burnett 274 F. Supp. 2d at 105 (“Proximate cause is defined asd teisether the ijury is the
natural and probablnsequence of the negligent or wrongful act and ought to have been foreseen
in light of the circumstances.” (internal quotations omitte@@gSiegel v. SEC592 F.3d 147,
159 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (“[P]roximate causation . . . is normally understood tireeairect relation
between conduct alleged and injury asserted.” (citation and internal quatetrkeomitted)).
That is the standard that the Court will apply to plaintiffs’ ATA clamase

3. United States Person Undeg 2332d

The final issue of statutory interpretation concerns whether BNPP qualfias'United
States person” under § 2332d. BNPP argues that it does nibtaplintiffs’ claim founded on
BNPP’s alleged violation of this statute shotlidreforebe dismissed. D&. Mot. to Disniss at
30-31°

Section 2332d defines “United States person” to mean a: “(A) United Statesn @tiz
national; (B) permanent resident alien; (C) juridical pefsmganized under the laws of the United
States; or (D) any person in the United States.” Notwithstanding the consptzontlusory
allegations that BNPP is a “United States person” within the meaning of § Z8&fthmpl. 1
98, 312, the complaint acknowledges that BNPP is “a French multinationalibemigorated

under the laws of Francaend headquartered in Paris, Franag,¥ 18 (emphasis added). Hence,

BNPP clearly does not qualify as a “juridical perswganized under the laws of the United

States” 18 U.S.C. § 2332)(2)(C) (emphasis added); see allecassis v. Wyatf785 F. Supp.

6 BNPP also contends that plaintiffs’ claim un@#2332d should be dismissed for the independent reason
that plaintiffs have failed to plead proximate causation. The Court agdrégs argument below and concludes that
plaintiffs have failed to sufficiently plead proximaigusatiorfor any oftheir ATA claims.

" A “juridical person” means “[a]entity, such as a corporation, created by law and given certain legal rights
and duties of a human beingJuridical PersorBlack’s Law Dictionary(10th ed. 2014).

12



2d 614, 648 (S.D. Tex. 2011) (finding liability under § 2332d “does not ekbgslo companies]

because they are foreign entitieslnited States v. Chalmerd74 F. Supp. 2d 555,65-66

(S.D.N.Y. 2007) (dismissing criminal charges un8e2332d against a Bahamian corporation

because it was not a “United States persaf.)Crosby v. Nat'| Foreign Trade Council, 530 U.S.

363, 379 (2000) (construing identical language in statute imposing sanctions on Bumoérand
the statute did not apply to “foreign companies”).
BNPP alsodoes not qualify as a “United States person” under subparagraph (D), as that

provisionis only meant to apply naural persons who aréhgsically presenin U.S. territory. It

would make little sense to accept plaintiffs’ argument that subparagrapéx{®&)ds beyond
natural persons to reach juridical persons like BNPP. First, subparagrapise&Cihe term
“‘juridical” to qualify personwhile subparagrapiD( does not.“It is a well-established canon of
statutory interpretation that the use of different words or terms within a statntasteates that

Congress intended to convey a different meaning for those wo8#C v. McCarthy322 F.3d

650, 656 (9th Cir. 2003). Moreover, interpreting subparagraph (D) to apply to juridical persons
would render subparagraph (C) superfluous because companies organized under the laws of the
U.S. are by definition located in the U.&sthat is thai place of incorporationSeeCorley v.

United States556 U.S. 303, 314 (2009) (“[O]ne of the most basic interpretive canons, [is] that [a]
statute should be construed so that effect is given to all its provisions, so that nall gzet w
inoperative or superfluous, void or insignificantitétion and internajuotationmarksomitted));

Morales v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 504 U.S. 374, 385-86 (1992) (rejecting proposed statutory

interpretation that would give a subsection “no purpose”).
Plaintiffs offer several arguments the contraryseePIs.” Opp’n at 25-27, none of which

are persuasivePlaintiffs’ argument that BNPP qualifies as a “United States person” as that term

13



is defined in 31 C.F.R§ 538.315and Executive Order 13607 is inappoditecause those
provisionsutilize different language than the definition§2332d. See, e.9.31 C.F.R. § 538.315
(“United States person . . . means any United States citizen, permanent rabatenentity
organized under the laws of the United States or any jurisdiction within the Unitezs Stat
(including foreign branches), or any person in the United States.”). loageyt is not clear that
BNPP qualifies as a United States person under those definthengference to foreign branches

appears to refer to foreign branches of U.S. incorporated ent8es=OFAC, Frequently Asked

Questions U.S. Dep't of Treasury*"Who must comply with OFAC regulations? . . . all U.S.
incorporated entities and their  foreign branches.” (emphasis added)
https://www.treasury.gov/resourcenter/faqs/Sanctions/Pages/fagq_general.aspxMoreover,
plaintiffs are incorrect that BNPP admitted to being a “United States paradet §2332d when
it entered itguilty plea. BNPP did not plead guilty to a violation®2332d,but insteadpled
guilty to regulations that apply to more than jtishited States pers@h and reach conduct by
nonU.S. persons from within the U.SSeeDef.’s Reply [ECF No. 21]at 22 (identifying
regulations) These facts rendgtaintiffs’ purported distinctions between this case @hdlmers
unavailing anglaintiffs entirely ignore the other cases cited by BNBRePIs.” Opp’n at 2627.
The Court concludes, thathat BNPP doesat qualify as a “United States person” underlS.C.
§ 2332d and plaintiffs’ claims founded BMNPP’sviolation of that statute will be dismissed.

4. Plaintiffs’ Allegations

The Court now evaluates the allagat presented in the complaint to deternwinether
they sufficiently plead an underlying violation of 8 2339#hich is the only predicatATA
violation that remainsFor the following reasons, however, plaintiffave failed to state a claim

for violation of that statute

14



To begin with, most ofhe facts alleged with respect BNPP’s conduct postlate the
embassy bombingsCritically, the detailed factual allegations concerning BNRRation of
U.S. sanctionsagainst Sudannvolve BNPP’s conduct between 208Zour years after the
embassy bomhgs—and 2012 See, e.g.Compl. 190, 119, 181.The few, non-conclusory
allegationgegarding the timperiodbetween the imposition of U.S. sanctions in November 1997
and thderrorist attacke August 199&ssert the following factafter thesanctions were imposed,
BNPPagreedo become the sole cogmndent bankor Sudanin Europe; Sudan’s central bank
thendirected all majoSudaneseommercial bankgncluding Al ShamalYo use BNPP as their
primary correspondent bank in Euro@@\PP esthlished relationships with unaffiliated regional
banks in Africa, Europe, and the Middle EaStidan’s central bank requested that BNPP not
channel trasactions through any U.S. bardqd eventually—whether in 1997 or later is not
clea—BNPPused these relationshipswvimlate U.S. sanctionsid. 1 13, 22, 87, 107, 178, 195.

Accepting that these allegations establish that BNPP was illegally procesSingoUar
transactions for Sudan prior to the 1998 terrorist attacks, they only esBRIP's connection
to Sudan and Sudanese banks (including Al Shamal); they do not establish BNPR:§@ohme
al Qaeda or any otheerrorist or terrorist activity prior téthe attacks-asrequiredto show a
violation of § 2339A. Seel8 U.S.C. § 2339A(a(plaintiffs must plausibly allege that BNPP
provided financial servicekknowing or intending’that the services “are to be used in preparation
for, or in carrying out” a terrorist attack). BNPP is accused of prayitimancial services to
Sudan andSudanese banks, ndlirectly to al Qaeda or any terrorist.See Compl. { 13
(acknowledging BNPP did not provide any direct financial services to al Qdedaaglerto satisfy

the requirements of § 2339A, plaintiffs must allege sufficient facts to stiber ¢éhat' (1) [BNPH

8 This is unsurprising because the complaint draws heavily from the coofeBINPP’s guilty plea in 2014,
whereBNPPadmitted taconspiring to violate U.S. sanctions against Sudan from 2002 to Z3¥ESOF 11 14, 17.

15



knew Sudaror Al Shama] was acting as an agent of al Qaed of an individual terroriftor (2)
[BNPH knew the ultimate beneficiaries of the financial services would be a teoayatization
or terrorist. Owens 235 F. Supp. 3d at 989 (citingGoldberg 660 F. Supp. 2d at 433frauss

v. Credit Lyonnais, S.A., No. CV-06-0702 (CPS), 2006 WL 2862704, at *11, *14 (E.D.N.Y. Oct.

5, 2006). Despiterepeated conclusorgllegationsthat BNPP “conspired” with Sudan and Al
Shamato “provide[] capital to finance the 1998 bombing[s.4, Compl. I 110and that BNPP
processedransactiongor Sudan andl Shamalthat it “knew or should have knowniould end
up with al Qaedag.g, id. 1 248 plaintiffs have failed tosufficiently plead that BNPP hathe
requisite scienter under the statute.

With respectto Al Shamal,the complaint allege& was establisheth part with a$50
million capital contribution from Bin Ladeid. § 25, and maintained bank accounts for members
of al Qaeda that were used parchaseveapons and military equipment prior to the embassy
bombings, idY 69. But the complaint does not contain any detailed factual allegttaaBNPP
knew about these supposed connections to al Qaeda. For instance, the complaintelaas not
dlege thatBNPP was aware of the 1996 State Department Report documenting d@n’sa
relationship to Al Shamal, let alone assert any fslotsvingBNPP’s knowledgef the report See
id. 158. Indeed the onlyfactconnecting BNPP to Al Shamia¢fore the attacks is that Shamal
held a correspondent bank account at a European subsidiary of BidRWithstanding several
conclusory allegations that[flrom at least November 1997, BNPP knew that Al Shamal
maintained accounts and provided finahaiervices to al Qaedad. 1 233, 269it appears that
the relationship between Al Shamal and Baden was not widely reportedhtil afterthe 1998

embassy bombinggl. 11 1602001 press release acknowledgBig Laden held two accounts at
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Al Shama), 161 (2001 Senate testimony suggesting Bin Laden’s ties to Al Shamal), 162 (same
from 2002 Congressional Research Service Report).

Even assuminghat BNPP processed U.S. dollar transactions for Al Shamal before the
embassy bombingsand there are no detailed factual allegations to suppo+-phantiffs have
not plausibly alleged that BNPP knew that Al Shamal was acting as an agent ofialpfieeto
the embassy bombings.And plaintiffs’ allegation that tipon information and baf, BNPP
processed transacti@hon behalf of Al Shamal, the proceeds of which were deliverat@aeda
for .. .planning and perpetrating the embassy bombindsY 167, is a naked assertion devoid of
factual supportand need not be accepted bg @ourt.

Plaintiffs’ allegations concerning BNPP’s knowledge of Sudan’s relatipnafith al
Qaeda are likewise deficienklaintiffs “present no facts suggesting that Sualath BNPH ever
agreed to provide funds to al Qaeda, and no facts showin{BiN&H knew what Sudan was

doing with the funds BNPP processe@wens 235 F. Supp. 3d at §émphasis addedPlaintiffs

allegethatit was“well-known by theearly1990s and certainly by November 199#iat Sudan
was a state sponsor of terrorism arasvgenerallyharboring, fundingandfacilitating terrorists
determined to attack the U.S. and its citizend. 7 130-131, 139, 143 1886. But those
allegationsdo not establish that BNPP knelat Sudan was utilizing the transactigm®cessed
by BNPP to providefunding to terrorists, or‘that Sudan was acting on al Qaeda’s behalf in

conducting financialransactionsvith BNPP” Owens 235 F. Supp. 3d at 99.

9 The complaint also alleges that al Qaeda purchased several farms thrasgti@atwith funds (in U.S.
dollars) drawn from Al Shamaandthatthose farms provided aeda with commercial inconandspace to train
terrorists and test weapongd. { 127. But the complaint does not allegatthese purchases occurnedor to the
bombings that BNPP provided any funds for these purchases, or that the U.S. dithahsawn from Al Shamal to
make these purchases were processed by BMFRilarly deficient are allegations that al Qaeda used funds at Al
Shamal to transport cash payments to al Qaeda operatives to carry aubriist tactivities. Id. 11165-66. The
complaint does not indicate when this occurred, allege that BNPP processad otherwise connected tizese
transactions, or otherwise plead any facts showing BNPP had knowletihige adtivity.
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The complaint’s most specific allegation in regard to BNPP’s knowleddpe @oinnection
between Sudan and al Qaeda is that one of BNRRisior compliance officers reminded other
high-leve| BNPPcompliance and legal employees that certain Sudanese banks which BNPP dealt
with play[ed| a pivotal role in the support of the Sudanese government which has Gsstea
Bin Laden” 1d. T 89 accordid. 1120. But that allegation is drawn from BNPP’s 2014 guilty
plea, which shows that thieminder occurreth 2007, nineyears after the embassy attacee
SOF 1 20. It thus appears thewen in 20@, BNPP did not know wheth&udan was utilizing
funds from transactions processed by BNPP to support al QAedahere are no other similarly
detailed factual allegations showing BNPP knew of the connection between Sudan aadal Q
prior to the embassy bombings. Rile the complaint alleges that Sudan provided al Qaeda “access
to the U.S. financial systemid. § 126, it appears that Sudan’s support to al Qaeda consisted
principally ofprovidingsafe harboandmilitary and intelligence fuport, ancbf facilitating travel
for agents of al Qaeda. It was al Qaemlathe other handhat appearto have providednoney
to Sudarto fundinfrastructure projectsAt bottom, plaintiffs present no facteowingthatBNPP
knew that“Sudan was using funds processed by BNP was likely to usesuchfunds—to
support al Qaeda.Owens 235 F. Supp. 3d at 99.

As this Court recognized when analyzing similar allegation®wens “the fact that
money was transferred to far a statesponsor of terrorism makes it more likely that the money
was used for terrorism than if the transfers had been to a state that does not spaomedsof.te
235 F. Supp. 3d at 99 (citirRothstein 708 F.3d at 97 “But the fact remains #t [Sudan] is a
government, and as such it has many legitimate agencies, operations, anthrtogfand.”
Rothstein 708 F.3d at 97 “Processingunds for Sudarjor Sudanese commercial banks]not

the same as processing funds for a terrorist organization or a terartst fowens 235F. Supp.
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3d at 99. 1t is likewise insufficientfor plaintiffs to allege that it was “foreseeable” that if BNPP
processed transactions for Sudaml Sudarge bankssome of that monegnight end up in the
hands ofal Qaedao carry out attacksPlaintiffs’ allegations simplydo not satisfy the sciente
element required by 8339A andcannot serve as a predicatet of international terrorism for
plaintiffs’ ATA claims.

For similar reasons, plaintiffs fagufficiently to allege thatBNPP’s conduct was the

proximate cause of their injuries. As wase in Rothsteinand Owens—both of which asserted

similar indirectcausation thea@s—plaintiffs have mad&o detailed factual allegatiossiowing,

for example, thaBNPP participated in the attacks provided money directly to antgrrorist
group, that any money BNPP processed for Sudan or SudaneseMaarkansferred to al Qaeda

prior to the attacksor that Sudan would have been unable to assist al Qaeda without the funds that

BNPP processetf. Rothstein 708 F.3d at 9wens 235 F. Supp. 3d at 98ee alsdn re Terrorist

Attacks on September 11, 2001, 714 F.3d 118;-2242d Cir.2013) (plaintiffs failed to allege

that bank proximately caused 9/11 attacks by providing routine financial esriaccharity
organizations alleged to provide funds to terrorist groupbcassis 704 F. Supp. 2d at 666
(plaintiffs failed to allege thdtickbacks given to Iraq proximately caused plaintiffs’ injuries in a
Hamas bombing in Israel). Based thie complaint’sallegations, there is simply not enough to
sustain a sufficiently direct causal connection betvaRP’sconduct and the embassy bands

thatallegedlyinjured plaintiffs!* The Court willthereforedismiss plaintiffs ATA claims.

10 Plaintiffs also allegahat “[h]Jad BNPP acted lawfully, the mechanisms described @bswuld have
assisted the U.S. Government and allied nations, detect, disrupt, aedtphev1998 East African Embassy Attacks.”
Compl. § 623see alsad. 1 109, 117 (similar)But thisis a“naked assertidrthat plaintiffs fail to support with any
detiled factual allegations. It is thus insufficient to establish proximatecMoreover, according to the complaint,
the U.S. Department of Treasury did not initiate the Terrorist Fen@recking Program to identify, track, and pursue
terrorists (inaliding al Qaeda) until after the September 11, 2001 terrorist attatKE58.

11 plaintiffs also argue that “money is fungible,” and that money usedditerrorist activities frees up
other resources that Sudan could have used to support al Qaeda. RisatQpi8, 3435. This Court considered
and rejected this argument@wens 235 F. Supp. 3d at 100.
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C. ATS CLAIMS
Plaintiffs also bring claims against BNPP under the ATSThe ATS provides district
courts with ‘original jurisdiction of any civil action by an alien for a tort only, committed in
violation of the law of nations or a treaty of the United States.” 28 U.S.C. § 1350. The ATS is

strictly jurisdictional; it does not create any cause of action itSalfa v. AlvareAaMachain 542

U.S. 692, 714 (2004). The Supreme Court helsl that “federal courts should not recognize
private claims under federal common law for violations of any international danv with less
definite content and acceptance amaenglized nations than the historical paradigms familiar
when § 1350 was enacteith 178922 Id. at 732 Federal courts are limited to recognizing causes
of action only for alleged violations ofternational law norms that arespecific, universal, and

obligatory.” Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co., 569 U.S. 108, 117 (2013) (quSbtsg 542

U.S. at 732).

Plaintiffs seek to hold BNPP liable under the ATS for allegesations of the law of
nations solely on a theory of secondary liability, premmedhe allegation that BNPP aided and
abetted the embassy bombind3ee, e.g.Compl. 1 266, 2735, 28485, 291. To do so, the
complaint must contain (1) a wedled allegation of a primary violation of the law of nations, i.e.,
that al Qaeda’s perpation of the attacks “represent[s] a violation of an international norm with
at least as ‘definite content and acceptance among civilized nations [agdttreal paradigms

familiar’ in 1789” Exxon Mobil Corp., 654 F.3d at 30 (quotiSgsa 542 U.S. at 732); and (2) a

2 There is a circuisplit regarding whether corporations can be held liable under the AT&.S&¢ond
Circuit does not recognize corporate liabilggeKiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum C&21 F.3d 111 (2d Cir. 2010),
but the D.C. Circuit has-consistentwvith the Seventh, Ninth, and Eleventh Circditsecognizedcorporate liability
under the ATS.SeeDoe VIl v. Exxon Mobil Corp., 654 F.3d 11, 587 (D.C. Cir. 2011), vacated on other grounds
527 F. App’x 7 (mem.). The SuprenCourt has been askgxresolve this circuisplit in Jesner v. Arab Bank,, PLC,
No. 16499 U.S) (petition for cert. grantedpr. 3, 2017.

13 At that time, three violations of the law of nations were recognized at oartaw: (1) violation of safe
conducts, (2) offenses against ambassadors, and (3) pich@at 720;see alsat W. Blackstone, Commentaries on
the Laws of England 68 (1769).
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well-pled secondary violation of the law of nations, by pleading the requirements for aading a

abetting liability under customaryinternational law Doe v. Exxon Mobil Corp., No. CV 01

1357(RCL), 2015 WL 5042118, a8*12(D.D.C. July 6, 2015} BNPP argues thailaintiffs
have failed to adequately plead both elemebtst.’s Mot. to Dismiss at 3237.
1. Violation of the Law of Nations

Plaintiffs contendthat they have pled three separate violations of the laws of nations: (1) a
crime against humanity?) aninfringement of the rights of ambassadors; and (3) an extrajudicial
killing. PIs. Opp’n at 4+42. BNPP responds that none of theeemsapply tothe attacks?
The Court addresses each purported violation below.

a. Crime Against Humanity

Plaintiffs first contend that the embassy bombiegsstitute dcrime against humanity”
under international law. PIs.” Opp’'n at-48}. Crimes against humanity hal@ngstanding
recognitionunder customary international law and are actionable under the &€8Elores v.

Southern Peru Copper Corp., 414 F.3d 233, 244 n.18 (2c2@iB) (noting that “customary

international law rules presbing crimes against humanity . have been enforceable against

individuals since World War II)Mehinovic v. Vuckovic, 198 F. Supp. 2d 1322, 1352 (NZa.

1 The ATS is presmed not to apply extraterritoriallyKiobel, 569 U.S.at 117. For a court to have
jurisdiction over claims arising under the ATS, “the presumptionnagaxtraterritorialityimust be]displaced or
satisfied.” Exxon Mobil Corp, 2015 WL 5042118, at5. The parties do not address this issue in their briefing.
However, inMwani v. Bin Laden 947 F. Supp. 2d 1 (D.D.C. 2013), this court evaluated whethgrgisemption
foreclosed the court’s jurisdiction to hear ATISims relating to the 1998 embassy bombings inygeand concluded
that the bombing “touched and concerned” the U.S. with sufficiemefto displace the presumption against
extraterritoriality. 1d. at 5.

15 BNPPcontendghat acts of terrorism do not constitute violations of the law of nationsibethere is no
universal norm against terrorism under customary international@eDef.’s Mot. to Dismiss at 34ee also, e.g.

In re Terrorist Attacks on Sept. 11, 2001, 714 R85 (“Plaintiffs failto . . . plead a violation of the ATS because
no universal norm against ‘terrorism’ existed under customary inienaatiaw (i.e., the ‘law of nations’) as of
September 11, 2001."Mwani v. Bin Ladin No. CIV A 99125 CKK, 2006 WL 3422208, at %32 (D.D.C. Sept. 28,
2006) (“The law is seemingly unsettled with respect tondtgji terrorism as a violation of the law of nations.”).
Plaintiffs respond that they are not alleging that “terrorism in generalldshi@u recognized as wolation of
internation&law”; rather, the Court must “look beyond the general category of the acb@kdtithe specific act.”
Pls.” Opp’'n at 40 n.21.
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2002) (“Crimes against humanity have been recognized as a violation of custorargtiobhal

law since the Nuremberg trials and therefaoeeactionable under the ATCA; $arei v. Rio Tinto

PLC, 221 F.Supp.2d 1116, 1150 (C.DCal.2002) (“It is wellsettledthat a party who commits a
crime against humanity violates international law and mapddd liable under the ATCA.”)
Private actorslike state actorsimay be found liable for . . . crimes against humanity” under the

ATS. Kadic v. Karadzi¢70 F.3d 232, 236 (2d Cir. 1995); Exxon Mobil CoB®915 WL 5042118

at *2; seelicci by Licci v. Lebanese Canadian Bank, SA34 F.3d 201, 213 (2d Cir. 2016)

(recognizing that claims for crimes against humanity may be asserted agams actors but
affirming the district court’'s dismissal of the plaintiffs’ complaint against thendief®& bank
because the Second Circuit does not recognize corporate liability under the ATS

Crimes against humanity were first prosecuted afferld War Il at the International
Military Tribunal at Nuremberg Under the Nuremberg Charterjmes against humanityere
defined a® humber oinhumane actscommitted against any civilian population, before or during
the war, or persecutions on political, racial, or religious grounds.” Charter aftth#lilitary
Trib., annexed to AgreemeiRespectingthe Prosecution and Punishment of the Major War
Criminals of the European Axis, Aug. 8, 1945, art. 6(c), 59 Stat. 1544, 82 U.N.T.SSikk®
then, the meaning of crimes against humanity under international law has evolveanodthe
recentinternational law author#s recognizingcrimes against humanity are the Statute of the
International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda (ICTR) and the Rome Statute of thmational

Criminal Court!® The ICTR Statute dafes crimes against humanity as murder and other

16 “Although the United States has not joined the International @ahCourt, U.S. law recognizes the
definition of crimes against humanity as stated in the Rome StatAtmbg v. Arab Bank, PLC471 F. Supp. 2d
257, 275.23(E.D.N.Y. 2007)
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inhumane actg “committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack against any civilian
population on national, political, ethnic, racial or religigmsunds.” Statute of the International
Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda, art. 3, S.C. Res. 955, U.N. Doc. S/RES/955 (Nov. 8,(kS9R)
Statute) The Rome Statute defines crimes against humanitwasler and otheenumerated
acts® “committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack directed against any civilian
population, with knowledge of the attackRome Statte of the International Criminal Court (July
17, 1998), reprinted in 37 1.L.M. 999 (1998), ar{fRbme Statute)

In accordance with these authoritie®urts have required plaintiffs to demonstrate the
following elements with plausibilitin order to sate a viableclaim for crimes against humanity:
(1) commissiorof one of the enumerated a¢® as part of a widespread or systematic attack (3)

directed against a civilian population and (4) committed with knowledge of thk.afiaee, e.q.

Presbyterian Church of Sudan v. Talisman Energy, Inc., 582 F.3d 244, 257 (2d CirB2008h

V. Chevron Corp., No. C 992506 SI, 2007 WL 2349343, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 14, 20Wiwa

v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co., No. 96 CIV. 8386 (KMW), 2002 WL 319887, at *10 (S.D.N.Y.

Feb. 28, 2002)Here, plaintiffs have plausibly alleged these elements.

The attacks committed by al Qaenfathe U.S. embassies in Kenya and Tanzania resulted
in themurderof 224 people anderiousinjuries to thousands me, many ofwhom were civilian
employes and contractors of the U.S. government. According to the complaQ#aeddargeted
U.S. civiliansand employees of the U.S. governmardrderto “intimidate and coerce the civilian

population and employees of the United States,” Compl. { 303, causev#oeation of all

"The inhumae acts listed in the statute are murder, extermination, enslavel®goitation, imprisonment,
torture, rape, persecutions on political, racial and religious groundsither inhumane acts. ICTR Statute art. 3.

8 The other enumerated acts include exrieation, enslavement, deportation or forcible transfer of
population, imprisonment or severe deprivation of physical liberty, tgrtape and other forms of sexual violence,
persecution against any identifiable group or collectivity on politicaiakanational, ethnic, cultural, religious,
gender, or other impermissible grounds that are universally recognizesr imérnational law, enforced
disappearance, apartheid, and other inhumane acts. Rome Statute art. 7.
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American and western forcgand]civilians from the lands of Muslinisid. 18, and “pursul[e] . .
its. . .policy of jihad,”id.  232. The U.S. embassy in Kenya was specifictdigetecbased on
national and political reasons, namtiat ‘there was a large American presence” attindassy
and the embassy personnel were responsible for actions carried out againsiSeedh | 7.
Plaintiffs have alsgplausibly establishedhat the attacks werboth widegpread and
systematic.They wereé'widespread” because they involvedarfje scale action” that was directed
against—and inflicted casualties upera “multiplicity of victims.” Doe v. Qj 349 F. Supp. 2d

1258, 1308 (N.D. Cal. 2004QeeWiwa, 2002 WL 319887, at *10; Prosecutor v. Limaj, Judgment,

CaseNo. IT-03-66-T,7 183(ICTY Nov. 30, 2005).The attacksvere “systematic” because they
were “thoroughly organized,” methodical, and followed“a regular pattermn the basis of a
common policy” by al Qaedalmog, 471 F. Supp. 2d at 27Bpwotg 2007 WL 2349343, at *3;

Wiwa, 2002 WL 319887, at *1(Prosecutor v. Rutagandaase NolT-96-3, § 69 (CTR Dec.

6, 1999) see als®wens 864 F.3d at 78884 (summarizing this Court’s findings of faas to

Sudan and al Qaeda’s efforts to carry out the embassy bomblrigs)tiffs allege thaal Qaeda
began planning the attacks as early as 1993, when it sent a key operative to Kenya 1d.Survey
targets, including the embassy. Compl. § 133. Thereatfter, al Qaeda continued to ptapaned p
to carry out the attackisy coordinatingwith and fundinga terorist cell operating in Nairobi,
obtaining and transportingeaponsand training terrorists Id. {1 134 264 According to the
complaint, the embassy bombings were part of a larger campaign to target &n8.laivilians,
which included the 1993 World Trade Center bombing and the thwarted attempt tcdaerdd
targes in New York City including the United Nations, an FBI office, and the HolatbLincoln

tunnels. Id. T 139.
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BNPP argues thahé attacks do not qualify as crimes against humanity because they
targeted‘a symbol of U.S. sovereignty.” Def.’s Mot. to Dismiss at 3hat the attacks occurred
at a location that may be considered a symbol of U.S. sovereignty does nohat#seytid not
target a civilian population on national and political grourtisose two things are not mutually
exclusive. It makes little sense to let the location of the attacks dictate whaeathme against
humanity occurred. Plaintiffs have plausibly alleged the elements necéssstate a viable
primary violation of the law of nations.

b. Infringement of the Rights of Ambassadors

Plaintiffs next contend that the embassy bombings infringedighés of ambassadors in
violation of the law of nations. PIs.” Opp’'n at-4. It has long been cegnized that assaults
which interfere withthe diplomatic mission of the U.S. and directly infringe the rights of
ambassadors violate the law of natiorSee4 W. Blackstone, Commentaries on the Laws of
England 68 (1769) (recognizing “infringement of the rights of ambassadsrgi® of three
specific offenseagainst the law of nations§psa 542 U.S. at 715 (recognizing that when tHeSA
was adopted, causes of action based upon assaults against ambassadgrsunweeel in the
notion that such breaches of the law of nations “impinged upon the sovereignty ofe[gh for
nation and if not adequately redressed coulsltosan issue of war”)Courts continue to regnize

that attack®n embassiegiolateinternational law See, e.q.Salazar v. Islamic Republic of Iran

370 F. Supp2d 105, 113 (D.D.C. 2005) (describing the 1983 U.S. embassy bombings in Lebanon
as“‘clearly contrary to the precepts of humanity as recognized inratbnal and international

law™); Einzer v. Barry, 798 F.2d 1450, 1455 (D.C. Cir. 198€f)d in part rev'd in part sub nom.

Boos v. Barry, 485 U.S. 312 (1988) (“Since the days of Blackstone, ‘infringement of tiseafight

ambassadors’ have been regarded as one of ‘the principal offenses hgalast of nations|,]’
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and for as long as the United States has been a nation, those rights have been recaogpiuzs t
those that are implicated her@rotection from intimidation and the potential of violence, and
from assaults on the dignity and peace of the embassy as well.”) (irtégtian omitted).

In Mwani v. Bin Ladin this court found subject matter jurisdiction over ATS claims

brought by a proposed clae$ more than 5,000 Kenyan citizens who were allegediims,
survivors, relatives, and businessvho hadbeen harmed by thE998 U.S. embassy bombing in
Kenya. 2006 WL 3422208,at *1. Relying onthe above precedemtalong withinternational
treatiessigned by the U.S., the court held that the U.S. embassy bombing in Kenya “impinged the
diplomatic mission of the United States and directly infringed on the wfglimbassadors, which

was and habeen a clear violation of the law of nations since the inception of the [AT&]at

*4,

Plaintiffs here—all foreign national employees or contractors of the U.S. government, or
their family membersCompl. 1129, 31—have at least as strong a clainttesplaintiffs inMwani.
BNPP argues that plaintiffs lack standing to bring their claims becausarthept ambassadors
or other diplomatic personnel. Def.’s Reply at 25. But the coltwani did not impose such a
limitation, andfound subject matter jurisdiction over the claims assertd¢elmyan nationals and

businesss BNPP also states thdwani arose in the context of a default proceedwghout

further explainingwhy this matters.Id. It does not; the court iMwani stated that “[b]efore a
default can be entered, the court must have jurisdiction over the party aganstie judgment
is sought,” 2006 WI13422208 at *1 (quoting 10 Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller, & Mary

Kay Kane, Federal Practice and Procedi2682 (3d ed.1998)), and the court then analyzed

whether it had subject matter jurisdiction under the AlGSat *3-5. Hence, plaintiffs have

sufficiently pled another primary violation of the law of nations.
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c. Extrajudicial Killing

Plaintiffs also contend that the allegations in the complaint are sufficient to demonstrate
that BNPP aided and abetted an extrajudicial killing, in violation of the law of nafdss Opp’n
at 44. But unlike the other two theories (i.e., crimgainst humanity and infringement of the rights
of ambassadors), the complaint does not plead this th&epsCompl.1 255-292. “[P]aintiffs

may not amend their complaint through their opposition pap&sg | v. State of Isragh00 F.

Supp. 2d 86, 100 (D.D.C. 200%ajjar-Nejad v. George Washington Univ., 873 F. Supp. 2d 1,

11 (D.D.C. 2012) (citing “the weltstablished principle that a party cannot amend its pleadings
by its briefs in opposition to a dispositive motion”). The Court will therefore not consige
argument.
2. Aiding and Abetting Liability

Having found that plaintiffs have satisfied their burden to assert a cause of astiodegt
in actions recognized gwimary violations of the law of nationshe Court must next evaluate
whetherthey have pledthe requirements for aiding and abetting liabikiyainst BNPRunder
customary international laWw’ The D.C. Circuit has stated that the standdtability for aiding
and abetting is based austomary international laas interpreted by “international tribunals

mandated by their charter to apply only customary international law.” Exxadnl Korp, 654

F.3d at 33. Two “authoritative” tribunals on this subject ardrternational Criminal Tribunal

for the Former Yugslavia (CTY) andthe ICTR. Id. Undercustomary international lgwhere

19 The titles of Counts Il and IV ofhe complaint also refer to “conspiracy,” but the substance of the
allegations is that BNPP aided and abetted violations of internationalSa®. e.g.Compl. 1 273, 291. To the
extent that the complaint alleges conspiracy as a sttameé offense, that claim fails because international law has
only recognized conspiracy as a stahghe offense in two circumstaneesonspiracy to commit genocide and
conspiracy to wage aggressive w@&eeHamdan v. Rumsfe|db48 U.S. 557, 610 (2006Bahlul v. United Sttes
840 F.3d 757, 815 (D.C. Cir. 2016). If instead plaintiffs are alleging caspas a theory of liability, this al$ails
for the reasons explained below, because “plaintiffs’ conspiracy clainnequire the same proof of mens rea as their
claims for aiding and abetting.Presbyterian Churchf Sudan 582 F.3dat260.
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are two elements to aiding and abettiagtus reus and mens refgl. at 34(citing Prosecutor v.
Furundzija Case No. 17195-17/1, Trial Chamber Judgmef§t249 (CTY Dec. 10,1998)) Exxon
Mobil Corp., 2015 WL 5042118, at *910. The Court will brieflydescribethe standardfor each
of these two elements and then applyse standards to the complaint’s allegations.

I. Actus reus

Theactus reugor aiding and abetting under customary international law must consist of
“practical assistance, encouragement, or moral support which has a subsféatiabn the

perpetration of the crime.Exxon Mobil Corp, 2015 WL 5042118, at * 9 (quotirijyosecutr v.

Sainovi¢, Case No. IF05-87-A, Appeal Judgement, § 1649 (ICTY Jan. 23, 2D14ssistance
is substantial when the underlying crime “probably would not have occurred in teexsgninad
not someone acted in the role that the accused [aider and abettor] in fact asddmgaidting

Prosecutor v. Tadi¢, Case No. 1+94-1T, Trial Opinion and Judgment, 688 (ICTY May 7,

1997)) see alsd-urundzija,Trial Chamber Judgment, § 233 (accused must substantially assist

through conduct that makes “a significant difference to the commission of theairant by the
principal”). “[T]here must be a ‘link’ orconnection’ between the aider and abettor’s astend

the underlying crime.”Exxon Mobil Corp, 2015 WL 5042118, at * 9 (quoting Nzahonimana v.

ProsecutgrCase NolT-98-44D-A, Appeal Judgement, § 488CTR Sept. 29, 2014))Aiding
and abetting liability may be found only where assistance is provideditaiaalts human rights

abuses, not simply to the criminal himselh re S. Afr. Apartheid Litig.617 F.Supp.2d 228,

257(S.D.N.Y. 2009) Although a defendant’s assistaimust be substantial, it is unnecessary to
show &'causeeffect relationshipbetween the assistance and the primary violatibacon Mobil

Corp.,2015 WL 5042118, at * 9 (citing Ndahimana v. Prosec@ase NolT-01-68-A, Appeal

Judgement, Y 147, 14€TR Dec. 16, 2013) Courts have found substantial assistance when a
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defendant provides “the means by which a violation ofldleis carried out.” Id. (providing
examples).

ii. Mens rea

Themens realement requirean evaluation of the defendass$tateof mind Defendang
must ‘know that their acts assist the commission of the principal offeide(citing Sainovié
1649). A defendant need not have certain knowledge that a particular crime will be comsatted
long asit is “aware that one of a number of crimes will probably be committed, and one of those

crimes is committed.Prosecutor v. Popovié¢, Case No. IFO5-88-A, Appeal Judgement, § 1732

(ICTY Jan. 30, 2015ee als&arera v. Prosecutp€ase NolT-01-74-A, AppealJudgement,

1 321 (ICTR Feb. 2, 2009)A defendant “must be aware of the essential elements of the crime”

to possess thmens reaequired for aiding and abetting liabilityProsecutor v. Luki¢ & Lukic,

Case No. [F98-32/1A, Appeal Judgement, 428 (ICTY Dec. 4, 2012citations omitted)“This
includes a requirement that the defendant know the intent of the principal perget&tgon
Mobil Corp., 2015 WL 5042118, at * 10 (citingPopovi¢ § 1732).

iii. Application to Plaintiffs’ Allegations

Applying these standard® the complainthere, the Court concludes thatlaintiffs’
allegations are insufficient to establisither theactus reus or mens rea elementsidfng and
abetting liability under customary international law. Plaintiffs failstdficiently allege the
requisite actus reus for many of the reasons discussed at@mely thaBNPP did not iself
participate in the attacks awlil not provide anyunds directly to al Qaeda or any of its agents,
and there are no Wepled allegations that any funds processed by BNPP were used to carry out
the embassy bombings. BNPP’s provision of banking services to a state sponsorisintemd

its commercial banks-which is the only conduct pled in n@onclusory terms-is tootenuoudo
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establish aiding and abetting liability under the ATSeeMastafa v. Austl. Wheat Bd., No. 07

Civ. 7955GEL), 2008 WL 4378443, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 25, 20@83¥missing claims against
BNPP for allegedly aiding and abetting Sadam Hussein’s human righesdimeause “[i]it is not
enough that a defendant provide substantial assistance to a tortfeaser; theisuasssstance
must alsoadvance the [tort’'s] commission” (quotations omittedy)aintiffs have not plausibly
shown that the terrorist attacks on the U.S. embassies “probably would not have bathseat
BNPP’s conduct®

Turning to the mens rea element, the complaint does not plausibly allege that BNPP
actually knew that any transactions it was processing for Sudan or Sudaaes®(e.g., Al
Shamal)were being used to fund al Qaeda generally, or the embassy bombingsalpecifi
Allegations that BNPPshould have know” will not suffice in this context.Mastafa 2008 WL
4378443, at *5“The knowledge element of aiding and abetting requires that a defendant have
‘actual knowledge’ that it is assisting in the tortious conduct,” and “allegationghat a bank
‘should have known,” will not suffice’) Becauselaintiffs have not sfficiently pled that BNPP
aidedand abettd d Qaeda’s attacks on the U.S. embassy as that theory is understiexd un

customary international law, theNTS claims will be dismissett.

20 plaintiffs reliance onAlmog v. Arab Bak, 471 F Supp. 2d 257 (E.D.N.Y. 2007nderscores the
deficiencyin the complaint’s allegationsin Almog, defendantArab Bank provided banking services directly to a
terrorist organization (i.e., Hamas) and collected donations for thatiseomanization from supporters throughout
the Middle East, which were then used to carry out terrorist attacksF.43Upp. @ at 290. Arab Bank allegedly
provided these services with knowledge that the funds were beingousady out terrorist attacks against the State
of Israel. ld. The court found these allegations sufficiently stated a theory obeddtich abetting liaility against Arab
Bank. In contrast, the complaint here does not plausibly allege that BiMREngly maintéined any accounts for al
Qaeda or collected any funds for al Qaeda that were used to carry out any tetamlist &t alone the embassy
bombingsspecifically

21 Because the ATS claims will be dismissed the Court need not resolve tike’ mhspute about whether
family members of victims can assert claims for emotional damagies the ATS. SeeDef.’s Mot. to Dismiss at
38; Pl.’s Opp'n at 4850.
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D. COMMON LAW CONSPIRACY AND AIDING AND ABETTING

Plaintiffs also bring common law claims for coirapy and aiding andbetting. Plaintiffs
contend that the complaint identifies conspiracy and aiding and abetting as a metaigisthies
vicarious liability for the underlying tortious acts resulting in the embamsypings?? Pls.’ Opp'n
at 37. The parties appear torag that D.C. law applies to these claims.

Under D.C. law, a plaintiff must pleddur elements to establishcivil conspiracy claim
“(1) an agreement between two or more persons; (2) to participate in an unlawful datyfd a
act in an unlawful manner; (3) an injury caused by an unlawful overt act performed bftbae
parties to the agreement; (4) which overt act was done pursuant to and in furtherance of the

common scheme.’United States v. Eisenberg, 149 F. Supp. 3d 41P9D.C. 2015) (quong

Halberstanv. Welch 705 F.2d472, 474D.C. Cir. 1983). Plaintiffsfail to plead that BNPP acted

in furtherance of a “common scheme” with al Qaeda toectarsious harm to plaintiffs, as required
to state a claimSeeHalberstam705 F.2d at 477. Quite the opposite, the complaint acknowledges
that “BNPP did not sharal Qaed& desire to kill American citizens and citizens of their allies.”
Compl. 1 3. The only conspiracy alleged in the complaint is a conspieaegen BNPPSudan,
Al Shamal,and al Qaed#o defeat U.S. sanctions, but there is no private right ebraébr
sanctions violations.

“To demonstrate the existence ofchairi conspiracy in which conspirators are not all
directly connected, the critical questiorwbether each conspirator knows of the existence of the
larger conspiracy and of the necessity for the other participants, even if he or smetdk@ow

their identities. Ungar v. Islamic Republic of Iran, 211 F. Supp. 2d 91, 100 (D.D.C. 2002). The

22 The complaint identifies the following underlying torts as giving rise to tmsmiracy and aiding and
abetting claims: wrongful death, assault and battery, survival, intahtiofliction of emotional distress, loss of
consortium, loss of solati and/or loss of services. Compl. 1 242, 254.
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complaint does not plausibly allege that BNPP knew of the existence of any aonpsm@tween
Sudan and al Qaedadarry out the embassy bombindg&esupraSection 111.B.4. Plaintiffs have
thusfailed to plausibly allege a common law conspiracy and thimmataust be dismissedSee
Ungar, 211 F. Supp. 2d at 100 (finditigat “[tlhe absence of a clear link from the Hdamas
‘partnershipy’ to the perpetrator of an attack was fatal to plaintiffs’ conspiracy theory)
Plaintiffs’ common law aiding and abetyjrclaim fares no betterAiding and abetting
includes the following element1) the party whom the defendant aids must perform a wrongful
act that causes an injury; (2) the defendant must be generally aware of lais palrt of an overall
illegal or tortious activity at the time that he provides the assistfamug}(3) the defendant must
knowingly and substantially assist the principal violatioH&lberstam705 F.2d at 477:Simply
stating that [a defendant] generally provided aid to a third party, who in turn purp@ntediged
in tortious activity, is not enough; rather, the plaintiffs are required to pleak lbdtween the aid

rendered and the principal violation (ooMtions) alleged.”_Acosta Orellana @ropLife Int’l,

711 F. Supp. 2d 81, 110 (D.D.C. 2010). As explained alppamtiffs have not sufficiently pled
that BNPP knowingly or substantially assisted the terrorist attacks do.gheembassies. And
thereare no wellplead allegations that BNPP provided any funding, directly or indirectly, to a

Qaeda that was used to carry out the attatKehis claimthereforewill alsobe dismissed.

23 Plaintiffs’ comparison tddalberstamseePls.’ Opp’n at 340, is off the mark. Iialberstamthe D.C.
Circuit held that a wife could be found civilly liable as an aider and abettmniurder that hdrusband committed
during the coursef a burglary because the widssisted her husband laundering stolen goodsiowing “he was
involved in some type of personal property crime at nightl her “continuous participation reflected her intent and
desireto make the [criminal] venture succeedd. at 487488. Neither of those factoispresentas to BNPFhere.
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E. FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCE (OR TORTIOIUS INTEFERENCE WITH
PROSPECTIVE ECONOMIC ADVANTAGE )

Plaintiffs also assert aclaim for fraudulent conveyance the complaint In their
opposition, however, plaintiffs attempt to recast this as a claim for tortiousenetere with
prospective economic advantagePls.” Opp’n at 50.

The parties again agree that D.C. law applies to this cl&dmat 50-51; Def.’s Reply at
31-32. Under D.C. law, a plaintiff must plead the following elements to state a claim foutortio
interference with prospective advantage: “(1) the existencevalié business relationship or
expectancy, (2) knowledge of the relationship or expectancy on the part of tlierént&(3)
intentional interference inducing or causing a breach or termination of th&omship or

expectancy, and (4) resultant damagéankovic v. Intf Crisis Grp, 593 F.3d 22, 29 (D.C. Cir.

2010) (internal quotation marks omittecgccordMcNamara v. Picken866 F.Supp.2d 10, 15

(D.D.C. 2012). A plaintiff must allege a business expectancy, not grounded in a present
contractual riationship, which is commercially reasonable to exp&dtNamara 866 F. Supp.
2d at 15 The D.C. Circuit has explained that “a valid business relationship or expdt¢t@mogars
to require rather specific business opportunitieddhkovi¢ 593 F.3d aR9 (internal quotation
marks omitted) Courts have found the following twnstitutea valid business expectangy:

prospective book deal, Browning v. Clinton, 292 F.3d 235 (LOTi€. 2002); “three potential

sources of prospective employmerKifnmel v. Gallaudet Univ., 639 FSupp.2d 34, 45 (D.D.C.

2009); development of a specific prope®@arr v. Brown 395 A.2d 79, 8284 (D.C.1978); the

opportunity to represent a trustee in a specific litigat@amocratic State Comm. of D.C. v.

24 Plaintiffs concede BNPP’s argument that they have failed to state a cldimudulent conveyanceSee
Def.’s Mot. to Dismiss at 40 (“Cau VIII of the Complaint, which purports to plead a fraudulent conveyataim,
fails to allege an actionable fraudulent transfer under any law.t)is Well understood in this Circuit that when a
plaintiff files an opposition to a motion to dismisgaessing only certain arguments raised by the defendant, a court
may treat those arguments that the plaintiff failed to address as coricétlmakins v. Womets Div., Gen. Bd. of
Global Ministries 238 F.Supp.2d 174, 178 (D.D.C.2002).
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Bebchick 706 A.2d569 (D.C.1998); and the opportunity to obtain neustomersParnigoni v.

St. Columbas Nursery Sch681 F. Supp. 2d 1, 28 (D.D.C. 2010).

Plaintiffs allege that BNPP interfered with their “valid expectancy in rece@ingpney
judgment against Sudan.” Pls.” Opp’n at S&éeCompl. 1 125,220. But this expectancy does
not arise from a commercial relationship, ituiglike any of thecommercial opportunities that
courts in this Circuit have deemed a valid business expectancy, and it is simply typeetio¢
expectancy that this tort protectSeeCarr, 395 A.2d at 84 (expectation of profit contingent on
decisions of two governmental bodies too remote to be a valid expectancyjtiff®laave not
identified any cases whethis torthas ever been asserted arising out of the expectation of a
judgment between parties with no commercial or contractual relation$higp.Court concludes
that plaintiffs havéailed to plead a valid business expectancy and their claim for interference with
prosgective economic advantagell be dismissed®

F. PUNITIVE DAMAGES

Finally, the complaint contains a staaldne claim for punitive damages. Conffy.34%

351 (Count IX). Because plaintiffs’ other claimill all be dismissed, the Court will alsiismiss

the claim for punitive damagesSeePark v. Hyatt Corp., 436 F. Supp. 2d 60, 66 (D.D.C. 2006)

(noting that “punitive damages are not an independent cause of action” and treating claims for

punitive damages “instead as part of an ad damnum clause”)

25BNPP also argues that all of plaintiffs’ claims are tinagred because the attacks occurred more than 17
years age-well outside the applicable statute of limitatierand plaintiffs have not properpled any grounds for
tolling the statute of limitations. Def.’s Mot. to Dismiss at41®. In light of the Court’s conclusions that plaintiffs
have failed to state any of these claims, it is not necessary to reach thisrdarganaddition, [25] plaintiffs’ motion
for hearing on BNPP’s motion to dismisdllwe denied as moot.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the Court concludes that plaintiffs have failedanystate
viable claims against defendant BNPP. BNPP’s motion to dismiss will be gramted alaims
against BNPP will be dismisse®laintiffs’ claims against Al Shamal will also be dismissed

/sl

JOHN D. BATES
United States District Judge

Dated: Septemb&9, 2017
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